

Thornhill Parent Faculty Club Bylaws

(As amended November 9, 2010)

PURPOSE

We, the parents and guardians of Thornhill Elementary School students, establish the Thornhill Parent Faculty Club (PFC), a volunteer organization, for the purpose of fostering academic knowledge, intellectual curiosity, imaginative thought, and social responsibility in our children. The PFC will work with the teachers and principal of Thornhill Elementary School to set priorities to supplement and support programs meeting these goals, and to raise and allocate funds to accomplish these goals.

ARTICLE I

PFC General Members

Section 1 Membership

All parents or guardians of students attending the school and the faculty and staff members of the school are general members of the PFC. All general members are eligible to vote (see Section 2 below).

Section 2 Voting

Each general member shall be entitled to one vote at membership meetings. Motions will be passed by a majority vote of the members present at a duly noticed meeting. Members shall elect the officers of the board, vote on approval of the annual budget proposed by the board, vote on appropriations of PFC funds that are necessary outside of the annual budget process, and conduct and vote on other business as the board deems appropriate.

Section 3 Meetings

Meetings of the general membership shall be held at Thornhill School once a month during the school year, unless deemed unnecessary by the board. Notice for a meeting at which an unbudgeted appropriation of more than \$1,000 will be considered must be published in at least one PFC newsletter prior to the meeting. The notice shall specify the amount and purpose of the appropriation. The general membership may vote on issues involving unbudgeted appropriations of up to \$1,000 if it is an emergency or a time-sensitive issue even though there was no prior mention in the newsletter.

Section 4 Meeting Procedure

The 9th edition of *Robert's Rules of Order* shall govern the procedure at all meetings of the members and the board except where inconsistent with these bylaws, in which case these bylaws will govern.

ARTICLE II PFC Board

The PFC is governed by an Executive Board, which consists of Executive Officers, the principal, and two faculty members selected by the faculty.

Section 1 Executive Board

The Executive Board of the PFC shall include:

President, Treasurer, VP Fundraising, VP Communications, VP Room Parents, VP Enrichment, VP Support, Secretary, and two (2) Members-at-Large, along with the principal and two faculty members.

Executive Board members are required to attend all PFC Board Meetings.

The Executive Board shall meet periodically during the year; the time of meeting to be determined by the President. The Executive Board shall conduct emergency business when circumstances render a board meeting impractical or unfeasible.

See Appendix A for the PFC Board Organization chart.

Section 2 Non-Executive Board Members

All Board members not listed in Section 1 are “non-executive” board members.

Non-executive Board members are not required to attend board meetings, but are welcome to do so.

See Appendix A for the PFC Board Organization chart.

Section 3 Co-chairs

Board positions may be shared. Executive positions may be shared by approval of the Executive Board. Executive positions that are shared still have only a single vote.

Section 4 Terms of Elected Office

The term of office for both Executive and non-executive board members shall be one year, commencing at the end of the school year in which the election was held. Any member may succeed himself or herself in the same position once and only once, except by special request. Special requests must be submitted to the Recruitment Committee (see Article III, Section 1) and approved by the board each year before being eligible for nomination and subsequent vote by the general membership.

Section 5 Removal of Board Members

A board member (executive or non-executive) may be removed from office only by a vote of two-thirds of the members of the Executive Board.

Section 6 Executive Board Powers and Obligations

a. Subject to the limitation of the Articles of Incorporation, of these bylaws and of the laws of the State of California as to actions that require approval of the members, all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under authority of, and the business and affairs of the PFC shall be controlled by, the board. No commitment on behalf of the PFC shall be made without a prior vote of either the Executive Board or the general membership. The activities and budgets of all committees shall be presented to the board for review at regular board meetings.

b. The Executive Board shall be responsible for overseeing all PFC activities.

c. The Executive Board shall meet before the beginning of a new school year to establish the PFC budget for the coming school year.

d. A proposed unbudgeted expenditure of less than \$1,000 may be approved by majority vote of the Executive Board without referring the matter to the general membership. Expenditures by committees or board members that come within an established budget allocation are not subject to prior board or membership approval.

e. The Executive Board shall create the standing committees needed to organize and carry out activities supporting the purpose of the PFC.

Section 7 Meetings and Notice of Meetings

a. The Executive Board shall have regular meetings at least three times each year at a time and place to be determined by the president. The secretary shall notify all board members (executive and non-executive) of the time and place of those meetings at least two weeks prior to each meeting. The president may also call special meetings of

the board on at least 48 hours notice. The secretary shall notify board members of the time, place, and subject matter of all special meetings as soon as practical before each special meeting. In the event the secretary is unable to give notice of a regular or special meeting of the board, such notice may be given by any officer. Attendance at a board meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of that meeting unless an objection is made at the beginning of that meeting or at such time as matters not properly noticed are brought up for discussion. General members may observe board meetings with advance notice to the president.

b. Board members may participate in special meetings of the Board by conference telephone, electronic video screen communication, or electronic transmission, specifically including e-mail. Special meetings may be conducted entirely through such electronic means at the discretion of the president. Participation in a meeting by such means pursuant to this section constitutes presence in person at the meeting as long as all board members participating in the meeting are able to communicate concurrently with one another, and each board member is provided the means of participating in all matters before the board, including the capacity to propose, or interpose an objection to, a specific action to be taken, and to participate in all votes.

Section 8 Voting

Agendas for board meetings will be distributed at least a week prior to meetings. Agendas must include any motion to vote, giving all board members an opportunity to attend the meeting or express their opinions to relevant Executive Board members before a vote takes place.

Executive Board members are expected to solicit and represent the interests of and may delegate their voting privileges to a member of their functional groups.

All board members, executive and non-executive, can participate fully in discussions on motions to vote.

Following motions to vote by Executive Board members, there will be a vote of all members, both Executive and non-executive, present at the meeting. This vote is advisory, allowing Executive Board Members to decide to open the motion to further discussion or make a final decision.

A quorum shall consist of nine (9) Executive Board members. The Executive Board may not vote on any business except when a quorum is present at a duly noticed meeting, and when a motion to vote has been in a previously sent agenda. Each Executive Board member shall be entitled to one vote and motions will be passed by a majority vote.

Section 9 New Board Member Orientation

Incoming board members shall be provided a copy of the PFC bylaws by the secretary. The outgoing board members shall meet with and instruct their replacements as to their duties preferably prior to the end of the current school year, or if necessary, before the start of the next school year. Binders should be passed over at this time.

ARTICLE III

PFC Board Member Elections

Section 1 Recruitment Committee

The president shall select one board member to act as Recruitment Committee Chair to establish a committee of at least three persons. Committee members can be either general members or board members. The Recruitment Committee shall notify the general membership of the date of the upcoming election, the positions available, and the slate of candidates it has recruited by publication in the two issues of the PFC newsletter distributed immediately preceding the election.

Section 2 Election

The election shall be held at a members' meeting in the spring semester. At this meeting, the Recruitment Committee will present its slate of candidates for both Executive and non-Executive positions, at which time nominations may be made from the floor provided the nominees are present or have given their written consent to nomination. If there is more than one candidate for any office the election shall be held by written ballot. The candidate receiving the most votes shall be elected.

Section 3 Vacancies

In the event a board position remains unfilled after the election or becomes vacant, the vacancy may be filled by a vote at any members' meeting or any regular or special meeting of the board in the case of an emergency. Notice of such members' meetings or board meetings need not comply with the special notice requirements specified for the annual election of officers.

ARTICLE IV

Records and Reports

The PFC shall maintain adequate and correct accounts, books, and records of its business. All such accounts, books, and records, including a copy of these bylaws and any amendments thereto, shall be made available for inspection upon the reasonable request of any member. A binder will be placed in the school office, which will include the minutes for the members' meetings, monthly budget reports, and a copy of these bylaws. Individual chairs should maintain binders that will be passed on to the new chairs for the following year. Binders may contain such information as planning timelines, vendors used, past budget allocations, and procedural records.

ARTICLE V Bylaws Amendment

Any amendments to the bylaws should be proposed through the secretary. The secretary may form an ad hoc review committee (open to any PFC member) to review the current bylaws and propose amendments. Amendments to these bylaws must be approved at a meeting of the general membership. That meeting must be noticed in the PFC newsletter immediately preceding the meeting and state that amendment of the bylaws will be considered. Amendments to these bylaws must be approved by two-thirds of the members present at the meeting. These amendments will be placed in the binder in the school office. Changes to Appendix A (job descriptions) are not subject to the bylaw amendment process.

ARTICLE VI Indemnification of Officers, Employees, and Other Agents

The PFC shall, to the maximum extent permitted by law, indemnify each of its directors, officers, employees and other persons described in section 5238(a) of the California Corporation Code, including persons formerly occupying such positions, against expenses, judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceeding as that term is used in that section, and including an action by or in the right of the PFC.

APPENDIX A PFC Board Organization Chart